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SACAJAWEA
By  Robert  Shetterly

This  is  the  story  as  best  recalled

of  the  Crew  of  Sacajawea  during  the

training,  deployment  to Africa  and

Italy,  and  their  combat  tour.

First,  Sacajawea  was  a  B24J

number  42-52558,  new  and  trou-

ble-free  as it  was  assigned  to us  at

McCook  AAF,Nebraska,in  January

1944.  But  this  crew  was  assembled

well  before  this  in June  1943  at

Gowan  AAF,  Boise,  Idaho.  They

were:

Tail  gunner

Sgt.  Bennie  C. Naticchioni

From:  Framingham,  Mass.

Ball  Turret  Gunner

John  Jurdyga

From:  Compton,  Ca.

Asst.  Engineer  - Waist  Gunner

Sgt.  Paul  H. Mallette

From  : Houston,  Tx.

Engineer  - Gunner

S/Sgt  Albert  P. LeBlanc
From:  Kenner,  La.

Radio  Operator

Top  Turret  Gunner

Sgt.  George  S. Wilson.

From:  Philadelphia,  Pa.

Asst.  Engineer

Nose  Turret  Gunner

Sgt.  John  N. Forham  (replaced

Sgt.  Oscar  Schmitt  at  Wendover).

From:  Boston,  Mass.

Bombardier

2nd  Lt.  Rowland  Craig  Taylor

From:  Boise,  Idaho.

Navigator

2nd  Lt.  William  J. Magowan

From:  Gordon,  Neb.

Co-Pilot

2nd  Lt.  Griscom  Bettle

From:  Philadelphia,  Pa.

PilOt

2nd  Lt.  Robert  L. Shetterly

From:Des  Moines,  Iowa.

Robert  L. Shetteri't)  Crew,  L to R - Rear  - Rotu7and  Craig  Tag{or,  Robert  L. Shetterh),  Griscom  Bettle,  Jr.,  Albert  P.

LeBlanc,  -Front-PaulH.  Ma(lette,  GeorgeS.  Wilson,  JohnJurrhlga,  Benru)  C. Naticchioni,  JohnH.  Forhan.  Notshown,
William  J. Magowan.
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This  crew  was  designated  #6

and  started  a forced  training  pro-

gram  in  the  B-24.  As you  history

buffs  will  recall,  Idaho,  a beautiful

country,  was  the  land  of  Lewis  and

Clark.  As  famous  explorers,  they  es-

tablished  the  fledgling  United

States'  right  to most  of  the  western

lands.  A  Shoshone  Indian  girl

named  Sacajawea  was  hired  by

Lewis  and  Clark  to  interpret  the  Jan-

guage  of  the  Indians  encountered.

She  became  known  as the  "Bird-

woman"  because  she  always  knew

the  way.  Although  only  15  years  old,

she  contributed  much  to the  suc-

cessful  Lewis  and  Clark  mission.

While  at  Boise,  it  was  decided

unanimously  that  the  B-24  we  took

to  combat  would  be  named  after  the

Birdwoman,  Sacajawea.  And  so it

was,  with  a little  nose  art  work  of

Tom  Arthur.

Young  men  all,  most  single  but

a few  married,  from  both  coasts,
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north  and  south.  Hardly  a homo-

geneous  collection,  but  as  time

proved,  they  were  very  much  so. At

GowanAAF,  Boise,  we  were  Combat

Crew  #6  in  the  29th  Bomb  Group,

flying  training  missions  together  so

each  qualified  fully  in  the  B-24.

In  August,  1943,  our  crew  was

transferred  to  the  399th  Bomb

Group  at Wendover  AAF,  Utah.

From  August  to November  1943  we

conducted  intense  night  naviga-

tions  and  long-range  bombing  and

gunnerymissions.  AtWendover,  the

crew  became  W-14.

In  November  1943,  another

transfer  as  CrewW-14  was  assigned

to  the  465thBomb  Group  atMcCook

AAF,  Nebraska,  and  later  assigned

to  the  781stBomb  Squadron,  where

intensive  squadron  and  group  train-

ing  was  conducted  as well  as the

final  combat  readiness  inspections.

From  McCook,  the  squadron

and  all  crews  deployed  to Lincoln

AAF  for  final  deployment,  equipage

and  readiness  inspections.  All  air-

craft  and  crews  passed  and  Febru-

ary  1944  saw  us  depart  the  United

States  via  Florida;  Puerto  Rico;

irinidad;  Belem,  Brazil;  Natal,  Bra-

zil;  and  across  the  south  Atlantic  to

Dakar,  French  West  Africa;  then  on

up  the  coast  to Marakech,  French

Morocco;  then  to Oudna  Field,  Dj-

edeida,  North  Africa.  Signs  of  war

were  everywhere;  the  German

troops  had  only  recently  been  forced

out  of  Africa.

The  first  of our  tent  cities  at

Oudna  Air  Field  became  home  for

several  weeks  while  the  base  at

Pantanella  was  being  prepared  for

our  combat  operations.  More  train-

ing  in  formation,  bombing  and  gun-

nery  continued  until  deployment  to

Pantanella  took  place  on 20  April

1944.

During  the  month  of  May,  the

crew  of  Sacajawea  flew  10  missions

over  Northem  Italy,  Germany,  Aus-

tria,  Rumania,  and  Yugoslavia.  One

noticeable  missionwas  a long  one  to

the  oil  refineries  at  Ploesti.  We  coped

with  difficult  weather,  heavy  flak

and  fighter  attacks  in  the  target

area.  Many  aircraft  were  damaged

and  one  lost;  a pattern  to  be  followed

many  times  over  at  Ploesti.

DuringJune  1944,  the  crewflew

14  missions  covering  awide  range  of

targets  in  Italy,  Rumania,  Germany,

Hungary,  Austria,  and  France.  We

had  to  cope  with  many  in-flight

emergencies  caused  by  enemy  fire

and  the  crew  performed  without

hitch.  We  had  every  right  to  feel  ca-

pable  and  confident.

OnJune  6th,  wewere  scheduled

to  fly  #6  in  the  right-hand  box  of  6

aircraft.  It  has  been  called  the  tail-

end  Charlie  position.  The  targetwas

the  Dacia  Romano  Oil  Refinery  at

Ploesti,  Rumania.  The  bomb  run

from  the  IP to  the  target  paralleled  a

railroad  semng  the  refinery.  About

midway  to the  target  the  Germans

had  placed  several  large  batteries  of

88  MM  anti-aircraft  guns.  Because

of  the  damage  these  batteries  had

caused  on previous  missions,  we

were  assigned  to  make  a  single-

plane  run  over  and  drop  our  bomb

load  on these  gun  emplacements.

This  we  did  with  good  results,  I

thought,  but  it wasn't  really  that

eaS7.

Al  LeBlanc  remembers  as follows:

On  June  6th  we  were  up  early,

around  3 or  4 am,  had  breakfast  and

were  briefed  for  the  mission.  At  th

briefing  the  instructions  were  given.

Two  things  I can  plainly  remember;

we  were  told  that  it  was  D-Day  for

the  invasion  of  Normandy  and  also

that  one  plane  would  drop  out  of  the

formation  on  the  way  to the  target.

Its  bomb  load  was  to  be  dropped  on

the  anti-aircraft  batteries.  It  seems

like  the  batteries  were  so  many  that

itwould  be  bestto  bomb  themforthe

protection  of  the  planes  flying  along

the  route.

When  we  were  checking  over  the

plane,  Bob  Shetterly  told  us  our

crewwas  selected  to  make  the  bomb

run  on  the  anti-aircraft  battery.  I

always  felt  that  since  we  were  tail-

end  Charlie,  maybe  we  were  volun-

teered.

Things  went  well  until  it was

time  for  us  to leave  the  formation.

Shortly  after  our  bomb  run  was

started,  we  would  see anti-aircraft

shells  exploding  below  us.  The  first

rounds  were  several  hundred  feet

below.  The  second  and  third  rounds

were  much  closer  and  we  were  being

hit.  A  red  flare  burst  above.  A  few
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minutes  later  a group  of fighters

appeared  at  a distance.  The  fighters

broke  formation  and  lined  up  to at-

tack  us  from  the  tail.

At  this  time  Craig  Taylor  took  my

"urret  and  I went  to  the  back  as  they

.ieeded  help.  The  bomb  bay  doors

were  open  and  the  bombs  already

dropped.  The  catwalk  was  slick  and

real  slippery.  Iimmediately  noticed  a

bad  hydraulic  leak.  Fluid  was  drain-

ing  out  of  the  reservoir.  A  large  line

was  cut  in  half.  Reaching  over  to  the

side  of  the  bomb  bay  I closed  the

valve.  A  little  fluid  was  still  draining

out  ofthe  system.  My  clothes  became

saturated  and  my  eyes  inflamed  by

leaking  oil  and  fumes.  I proceeded  to

the  back.  The  waist  gunner  had  just

put  out  a fire  in  the  ammo  box  and

now  had  leaking  oil  and  fumes.  We

kept  the  bomb  bay  door  open  as  well

as the  waist  windows  and  camera

hatch.  We  decided  it  was  safe  to  use

the  guns.  Although  our  tail  gunner,

Bennie  Naticchioni,  was  hit  in  the

leg,  he  was  shooting  like  hell.  Of  the

nine  fighters  in  the  attack  he  got  one

and  damaged  others.  Paul  Mallette,

our  waist  gunner,  either  got  another

or  badly  damaged  it.  The  ball  gunner,

'ohn  Jurdyga's  turret  was  out  from

flak,  so we  pumped  him  up  manu-

ally.  He took  the  tail  turret  from

Bennie.  A  parachute  was

put  on Bennie  after  his

leg  was  taken  care  of  and

a blanket  was  put  over

his  shoulders  and  he  sat

near  the  camera  hatch.

We  had  a  handful  of

cables  cut  to the  control

surfaces.  Also  had

brakes  out,  most  of  the

electric  system,  hydrau-

lie  and  intercom.  While

we were  taking  care  of

the  fighters,  Bob

Shetterly  and  Gris  Bettle

were  trying  to  maneuver

the  plane  under  the  for-

mation  for  added  protec-

tion.  We  were  there  for

awhile  and  then  lost

oxygen.  We  left  the  other

planes  and  went  to  a

lower  altitude  so breath-

ing  would  be  easier.
Shetterly  crew in Yellow  D, badh)  damaged  and loss of
some  controls  could  not  avou  heavy  equipment  extending

on  the  mnu:iag.

Our  navigator,  Bill

Magowan,  did  a good  job

mapping  our  way  back,  as  we  now

were  alone.  We  were  using  more  gas

than  usual  and  getting  low.  I

showed  Taylor  and  Magowan  how

to  throwthe  nose  gear  out  so  Icould

do other  things.  Magowan  helped

me  crimp  other  lines  in  front  of  the

pilotto  stop  aleakthere.  Taylorwas

all  over  the  plane  once  he  was  able

to  leave  the  top  turret,  helping

where  needed.

Meanwhile,  up  front,  Gris

Bettle  and  I had  our  hands  full.

Immediately  after  bombs  away  we

were  really  clobbered  with  nu-

merous  flak  hits  all  over  the  air-

craft.  We lost  rudder  control,  ai-

leron  control,  radio  and  intercom

and  most  oxygen  positions.  Fortu-

nately,  the  elevators  still  worked

and  all  four  engines  were  still  turn-

ing.  We  were  out  of  formation  be-

cause  of our  bomb  run  on  the  AA

gun  batteries.  Impossible  to  fly  for-

mation  but  we  S-turned  back  and

forth  under  the  formation  using

engines  and  cowl  flaps  to  guide  us.

Being  under  fighter  attack  we

needed  to stay  with  the  formation.

Al  LeBlanc  and  Taylor  did  yeoman

work  keeping  me  informed.  We  had

no  intercom  or  radio  but  the  crew

worked  well.  Bennie  Naticchioni

was  injured  and  bleeding,  but  as  of

now,  all  other  hands  were  OK.  Tay-

lor,  Wilson,  Mallette,  Jurdyga,

Forham,  and  Naticchioni  kept  the

turrets  and  guns  going  as we  were

under  heavy  fighter  attack  from  all

sides.  One  head-on  pass  of  3 ME

109s  caught  my  attention.  They

were  line  abreast  all  firing  right  at

my  front  windows.  guite  a relief  to

hear  Forham  in  the  nose  turret  and

Taylor  in  the  top  turret  blasting

away.  As  they  passed  over  us,  2 of

the  3 were  trailing  smoke,  no  doubt

in  trouble.  Magowan  and  LeBlanc

cut  off  valve  lines  to stop  the  hy-

draulic  spray  in  the  cockpit.

It soon  became  apparent  that

we  were  suffering  from  lack  of  oxy-

gen.  We  were  well  above  20,000  feet

and  all  but  a couple  of  walk-around

bottles  were  depleted.  The  fighters

were  still  attacking  but  we  had  to

leave  protection  of the  formation

and  descend.  We  made  it  gradual

and  played  back  and  forth  under  the

formation  to  try  and  counter  the

fighters.  Afterwhat  seemed  like  ages

the  fighters  gave  up,  perhaps,  they

too  were  low  on  fuel.  At  any  rate,  we

gave  more  than  we  received  and  the

crew  was  credited  with  I kill  and

several  probables.

Upon  leaving  the  formation,

Bettle  and  I experimented

with  the  autopilot,  hoping

to regain  rudder  and  ai-

leron  control.  When  first

turned  on,  it  was  very  er-

ratic  and  put  us  into  a

steep  nose  down  bank.

This  was  bad  news  in  our

condition.  We  were  able  to

recover  straight  and  level

by  use  of  engines  and  ele-

vators.  Craig  Taylor  went

back  to  the  tail  and  made

some  adjustments  in  the

autopilot  servo  which  de-

creased  the  sensitivity

and  made  things  more

manageable.

Magowan  recalled  the  fol-

lowing:

The  bombardier  had

just  called  'bombs  away'

over  the  interphone  when

three  88 mm  shells  ex-

ploded  around  the  ship.
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The  hits  blew  in  the  plexiglass  tail  turret,

cutourruddercables,  setfireto  aboxof  50

caliber  ammunition  in  the  tail  and

smashed  the  hydraulic  system.

We  were  in  a  badwaywith  the  ship  out

of  control  and  the  spray  of  hydraulic  fluid

drenching  and  blinding  us.  The  pilot

managed  to  get  us  back  under  control  and

under  the  formation  going  home.

In  the  meantime,  the  tail  gunner  put

out  the  fire  before  the  bullets  started  ex-

ploding.  I crawled  out  of  the  nose  to  help

the  engineer  stop  the  spray  of  hydraulic

fluid  which  was  blinding  everybody  in  the

waist.

The  engineer  managed  to  stop  the

spray  of  hydraulic  fluid.  Just  as  the  right

waist  gunner  spotted  three  more  ME  109s

boring  in,  the  radio  went  dead  and  the

oxygen  system  failed.  The  ship  was  cut  off

from  all  communications  and  breathing  at

an altitude  of 20,000  feet  became  ex-

tremely  labored.

I saw  one  fighter  hit  at  us  from  100

yards,  stagger  and  fall  off,  then  begin  a

long  spiral  down.  Another  fighter  caught  a

burstfrom  one  of  our  gunners,  in  the  Jerg

engine  nasal,  and  dove  under  the  nose

where  once  again  hewas  plastered.  Athird

decided  events  were  too  hot  and  dived  be-

fore  he  came  within  range  of  our  guns.  We

finallygot  rid  of  them  and  the  pilottook  the

ship  down  to  a safer  breathing  level.

It  was  one  long  prayer  coming  back

over  the  Yugoslavian  mountains  and  the

Adriatic  Sea,  but  we  made  it  in  one  piece.

I'll  never  know  how  the  pilot  managed  to

landwithoutrudder,  brakesandflaps,  but

he  did.  We  counted  139  flak  and  bullet

holes  in  the  ship.

Again,  up  front.  The  pilot  and  co-pilot

were  still  pretty  busy.  Afterwe  outsmarted

and  out-fought  the  fighters  and  the  forma-

tionwas  long  gone  ahead,  itwas  pretty  ob-

vious  to  me  thatwe  would  have  to  bail  out.

So  many  things  were  broken  in  our  flying

machine.  Because  of  Bennie  Naticchioni's

leg  injuries,  bailing  out  wasn't  too  attrac-

tive,  especially  over  German-held  Ruma-

nia.  At  present,  things  were  under  control

so  we  postponed  bailout  hoping  to  get  to

Yugoslavia.  Some  people  on  the  ground

were  a little  more  friendly  in  Yugoslavia.

We  were  sweating  out  fuel  and  hoping  to

get  over  the  mountain  ranges  in  central

Yugoslavia  before  giving  up  on  Old  Yellow

D.  We  made  it  through  a pass  in  the  moun-

tains  thanks  to  Magowan's  expert  naviga-

tion.  By  the  time  we  sighted  the  Adriatic,

things  were  chugging  along  and  we  continued.

With  so much  damage  it  was  a little  foolish  to  have  too  much

confidence,  but  things  were  working  so we  pushed  on  across  the

Adriatic  Sea.  Crossing  the  water,  the  bailout  was  put  on  hold  since

no  one  seemed  aous  to  swim  home.  Barring  any  engine  trouble  or

fuel  leaks,  it began  to look  possible  that  we  would  get  this  bi

wounded  bird  back  home.  But  getting  it on  the  ground  posed  somt.

problems.  No  hydraulic  to  lower  the  gear  and  flaps  and  no  hydraulic

fluid  for  brakes.  Rudder  and  aileron  inoperative  except  through  the

Distinguished  Fh)ing  Crosses  being  awarded  at  Pantanelta.  R to  L

Roland  Craig  Taglor,  Robert  L. Shetterly,  Col  Joshua  Foster?,  Maj.

Harold  A. Buuock.  Au:iarding  the  meda(s  Col  Foster?  Bob  Shetterh)

noted  the whole  cre'u:i eamed  this  recognitionfor  bringing  them home.
autopilot  which  was  still  working  OK.  Elevators  and  engine  controls

OK  as  bestwe  could  tell.  WHATTHE  HELL  - LET'S  LAND.  Gris  Bettle

strong  armed  the  elevators  to  override  the  autopilot,  rounded  out  per-

fectly  and  I, steeringwith  the  autopilot  turn  control,  lined  upwith  the

runway  and  maintained  airspeed  and  descent  with  the  throttle.  Al

LeBlanc,  with  help,  cranked  the  gear  down  and  locked  with  the

emergency  system  and  then  called  off  the  approach  airspeed  for

Bettle  and  me.  We  touched  down  close  to  the  end  holdingthe  noseway

high  for  aerodynamic  braking.

Al  LeBlanc  remembers  this  part  as  follows:

Being  low  on fuel  because  of  the  extra  drag  with  everything

opened,  the  guns,  ammo  and  everything  loose  was  thrown  out.  Two

parachutes  were  ready  to  be  released  from  the  gun  mounts  for  slow-

ingus  afterlanding.  Themaingearwasloweredbuthadto  becranked

the  rest  of  the  way  to  lock  it.

We  passed  the  tower  and  George  Wilson,  our  radio  operator,  gave

light  signals  that  we  were  in  an  emergency  and  prepared  for  landing.

Shetterly  and  Bettle  made  a long  approach  on  automatic  pilot  to  the

runway  and  it  looked  good.  At  the  appropriate  time  the  throttleswere

pulled  back  and  we dropped  to the  end  of  the  runway.  What  a

wonderfulfeelingas  ShetterlyandBettle  made  aperfectlanding.  They

held  the  nose  high  and  cut  the  engines  for  more  drag.  All  free  crew

members  moved  to  the  tail  to  keep  the  nose  up  and  tail  dragging.  The

plane  slowed  down  fast.  All  at  once  we  noticed  a sheep  foot  roller  on
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the  side  ofthe  runway.  Bettle  tried  to  startthe  out

board  engine  to  miss  the  roller,  but  could  not.  We

hit  the  roller  and  broke  plexiglass  on  the  lower

part  of  the  nose.  The  nose  gear  also  hit  and

stoppedus.Anambulancearrived-  quick-ly-asw-ell

ts  a truck  and  tractor.

Two  other  crews  were  lost  because  of  flak  so

in  the  end  with  all  our  problems  we  felt  lucky.

On  June  7th,  the  next  day,  we  went  to the

flight  line  to  look  at  the  plane.  We  counted  159

holes. Old Yellow  D looked  pret'ff  bad. On the
right  wing  about  a foot  from  the  leading  edge  I

noticed  3 or  4 ricochet  bullet  tracks  across  this

part  of  the  wing.  This  probably  came  from  the

fighters.  These  hit  between  No.  I and  2 engine.

Somehow,  the  propellers  were  not  hit.  On  the

leading  edge  of  the  wing  was  a large  hole  badly

chewed  up.  Mallory  Simmons,  our  crew  chief,

gave  me  a big  piece  of  flak  he  had  removed.  This

piece  of  flak  is  about  one  inch  by  l  /2  inch  thick
and  41  /2  inches  long.  I still  have  it  as  a souvenir.

Simmons,  Becnel  and  Ferich,  our  ground

crew,  placed  about  a dozen  cans  of  beer  they  had

saved  up  on  our  plane  to get  cool.  They  were

placedforward  ofthe  camerahatch.  Wehad  afew

hits  there  and  they  lost  all  but  three  cans.

As  pilot  of  the  crew  of  Sacajawea,  I felt  a great

pride  in  the  work  these  guys  did.  It  brought  us

home.  Luck  helped  too,  butwe  made  it.  The  June

6th  Ploesti  missionwas  a tough  one  forthe  Group

nd  the  781st.  Two  aircraft  from  the  Squadron

were  lost  over  Rumania  on this  mission.  Lt.

Martin's  crew  bailed  out  and  survived  with  some

injuries  as did  Lt.  MacFarland's  crew.

Bennie  Naticchioni,  our  injured  tail  gunner,

said  to  me  after  landing,  "Thanks,  Lieutenant.  I

really  didn't  want  to walk  home."  How  in  the

world  can  you  thank  any  one  person  for  a per-

formance  like  that?  They  - all  10  - did  it,  and  did

it  damn  well!

Through  the  rest  of  June,  July  and  August

1944,  the  crew  flew  26 more  missions.  Three

more  times  over  Ploesti.  Although  damaged

many  times  over,  never  as  seriously  as  the  June

6 mission.

John  Forham  caught  flak  in  the  nose  turret

over  Linz,  Austria,  while  we  bombed  the  Herman

Goering  Tank  Works.  A  flak  wound  in  his  right

lower  leg  resulted  in  a compound  fracture.  Both

John  and  Bennie  recovered  fully  and  completed

their  missions  and  returned  stateside  in  1944.

All  members,  except  Lt. William  Magowan

who  had  a non-flying  injury,  completed  all  mis-

sions  and  returned  to  the  states  and  survived  the

war  and  many  years  after.  Today,  some  52  years

later,  four  of  the  ten  guys  that  kept  Sacajawea

.lying  are  still  living  the  good  life.

STALAG  LUFT  IV
by  Harold  B. Farrar

On  Jtd'g  16,  1944  on  a rnfsston  to Vienna  the  Tipton  crew

began  to have  prob{erns  with  their  aircraft.  Ekl  the  tme the'g tefi
the target  two  engmes were  out and  they were  forced  to leave
thefomakn.  AfteranencounterwithaMe  109  they  had  to bail
outnearZagreb,  Yugos(avm.  They  werecaptured  b'g  the  Ustachi

b-oops  and  turned  over  to the  Germari  souiers.  Two  days  tater

they were  taJcen to Buzlapest,  Hungarg  for  interroga'un.  From
here the officers,  Lt Dale  Tipton, Lt Eugene  Weiss, Lt Vemon
Burda  and  Lt  Eugerie  Km)zynsk €, were  sent  by  train  to  Sta{ag

Luft III at Sagan, Germang. The enlisted  men, T/Sgt  Frank
Jasicko,  T/Sgt  Huiitt  Holcombe, S/Sgt  Harold  Farrar,  S/Sgt
MbertRalston,  S/SgtPaul  Bradh)  and  S/SgtMichae7  Deironimi

ahngwith20otherenlistedmen,  weresentbyboxcartoSta(ag

Luft  JV. Harou  Farrar  wdl tel( about  (ife as a POW. Editor.
It  was  now  August  4,1944  and  the  Tipton  Crew's  enlisted

menhadtraveled  over600  miles  north  sincetheyleftthe  prison

in  Budapest.  They  uncoupled  our  box  car  at  a small  train

station  called  Kiefheide  nearthe  townof  Grosstychowabout25

miles  inland  from  the  Baltic  Sea  in  the  Province  of  Pomerania.

Whenwe  got  outofthe  boxcarwewere  hungry,  weak,  stiff,  very

tired,  and  somewhat  scared.  Our  guards  were  replaced  by

soldiers  dressedinthe  blue  uniform  ofthe  Luftwaffe  aswewere

lined  up  and  ordered  to  start  marching  down  a dirt  road.  We

walked  alongthe  road  for  over  a mile  and  ahalfthrough  a heavy

forest  untilwe  broke  out  into  a large  clearing  and  offin  the  dis-

tance  we  could  see  a large  compound  of  many  wooden  build-

ings  completely  surrounded  by  double  fences  of  barbed  wire.

After  they  opened  a large  locked  gate  we  were  led  into  an  outer

camp  that  contained  the German  administration/housing
portion  of  the  camp  called  the  Vorlager.  We  were  told  we  were

inKriegsgefangenenlagerderLuftwaffeNr  IV,  aprisonerofwar

camp  for  enlisted  airmen.  Wewere  stripped  of  all  of  our  clothes

and  completely  searched.  After  we  dressed  we  were  photo-

graphed,  finger  printed,  and  assigned  a prisoner  of  war  num-

ber  for  identification  purposes.  My  POW  number  was  # 649  1.

This  was  a new  prison  camp  that  had  just  been  activated

in  early  May.  Learning  from  their  earlier  experiences  at  other

camps,  this  camp  was  located,  designed,  and  constructed  to

eliminate  as many  escape  and  tunneling  routes  as possible.

First  it  was  located  as  far  North  and  East  as possible  to  keep

it  a great  distance  from  the  Western  front,  so  you  would  have

a very  long  and  dangerous  walk  if  you  did  escape.  Next  it-was

located  on  sandy  soil  in  the  center  of  a very  large  cleared  area

in  the  middle  of  a forest  of  trees,  so you  would  have  to  dig  a

tunnel  in  sandy  soil  that  would  have  to  be  shored  up,  so that

it  would  not  collapse.

About  350  acres  had  been  cleared  of  trees  and  the  camp

was  built  in  the  middle  150  acres,  so a tunnel  would  have  to

extend  a long  ways  just  to  get  to  the  edge  of  the  camp  and  a lot

fartherto  reachthe  safety  ofthe  trees.  The  barracks  floorswere

raised  about  30  inches  off  of  the  ground,  so they  could  see

underneath  the  barracks  and  also  turn  their  dogs  loose  under

there  to  sniff  out  anypossible  escapees.  We  also  found  outthat

the  floors  were  made  of  two  layers  of  wood.  The  planks  were

running  in  one  direction  on  the  lower  floor  and  the  planks  on

top  were  placed  in  the  opposite  direction.  So  you  could  notjust

remove  the  upperplanks  over  a small  area  and  still  getthrough
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the bottom  layer  because  they  were

running  in  the  wrong  direction.

The  camp  was  divided  into  four

compounds,  or  lagers,  and  each  was

a separate and  self  contained  unit.

Lagers designated  "A"  and  "B"  were

side  by  side  and  lagers  designated

"C" and  "D"  were  right  behind  them.

There  was  a road  and  single  gate

leading  into  each  lager.  Around  each

lagerwere  double  barbed  wire  fences

about  ten  feet  high.  High  towers  with

guards, machine  guns,  and  search

lightswere  evenly  spaced  around  the

perimeter  of  the  camp.  These  same

type towers  were  also  located  behind

the  double  fences  between  the  la-

gers,  so each  lager  had  machine  gun

towers  on  all  four  sides.  At  this  time

Lagers  "C"  and  "D"  were  still  under

construction,  but  "C"  was  nearing

completion.

Around  all  of  this,  guards  on  foot

with  large  vicious  police  dogs  pa-

trolled  at  night.  There  was  one  large

guard  called  "Big  Stoop"  thatwas  the

most  vicious  and  injured  several

prisoners  while  they  were  being

processed  into  the  camp.  He had

very  big  hands  and  liked  to  cuff  pris-

oners  on  the  ears  with  an  open  hand

which  caused  a lot  of  pressure  on  the

ear,  sometimes  puncturing  the  ear

drum.  He was  generally  brutal  in

everything  that  he did  during  our

stay  here  and  also  later  on  during

our  forced  march.

At  sundown  each  nightwe  had  to

install  wooden  shutters  over  the

windows,  the  barracks  doors  were

locked,  and  during  the  night  we

could  hear  the  guards  and  dogs  as

they  patrolled  this  area  inside  our

compound.

Our  crew  at  this  time  was  told

that  we  would  now  be  living  in  Lager

A, Barracks  #9,  so I will  try  to de-

scribe  the  general  layout  of  our  new

home.  Our  lager  was  laid  out  in  a

more  or less  conventional  military

manner,  with  the  buildings  facing  a

combination  athletic  field  and  pa-

rade  ground.There  were  ten  bar-

racks,  five  on  each  side  of  the  field

with  a latrine  and  wash  room  and

water  pump  located  in  the  center  of

each  row.  There  were  no  buildings

across  the  far  end  as it  looked  out

across  the  cleared  area  towards  the

forest  and  the  guard  towers.  Across

Lufi  W during constnzction. You can see the double barbed-wire  fence
between compounds  and  the  waming  {ine  creating  a no  mari's  (and

area in u>hich no prisoriers  could trespass. Later  a prisoner  from  my
barracks  went insane arid tn:ed to climb over the fence  in broad daylight
an.d mas  shot by  the  guard.  The  German's  then  added  more  sloped

barbed u>ire aiong the top off  the existing  fence.
room.  There  was  a small  round  heat-

ing  stovewith  a flat  iron  top  thatused

a compressed  coal  brick  as  fuel.  Only

a limited  number  of  the  coal  brickety

were  issued  per  room,  so during  tht

winter  they  had  to  be  used  very  spar-

ingly  as  they  were  also  our  only

source  of  heat.  There  also  were  two

tables,  some  stools,  and  a small  light

bulb  in  the  center  of  the  room  that

the  near  end  of the  compound

there  was  a large  building  housing

the  kitchen,  two  sleeping  rooms,

two  offices.  and  a large  general-

purpose  room  that  we called  the

"Red  Cross  Room"  Also,  located

right  outside  this  building  was  a

shallow  concrete  structure  that

looked  somewhat  like  a swimming

pool  and  was  full  of  very  dirty  rain-

water.  We  never  found  out  for  sure

whatitwasfor,  butsomethoughtit

was  a water  supply  in  case  there

was  a fire,  but  we  never  saw  any

kind  of  pump  and  all  we  had  to

cary  water  in  was  buckets.  Some

of  the  guys  made  small  sailboats

and  had  some  boat  races,  but  they

did  not  seem  to draw  very  large

crowds.

The  barracks  were  constructed

of  wood  and  were  about  40  x 130

feet,  each  containing  ten  living

areas,  five  rooms  on  each  side  with

a central  hallway  running  down

the  center  of  the  building,  and  at

the  far  end  there  was  a small  wash

room  and  a pitlatrine  thatwas  only

open  for  use  at  night  During  the

day  you  had  to use  the  large  out-

house  type  latrines.  Each  room

had  eight  double  deck  bunk  beds

spaced  around  the  perimeter  of  the
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had  to  be  turned  off  at  10:00  o'clock

each  night.  All  of  the  rooms  in  Lager

A  were  already  full,  so they  told  our

crew  thatwe  would  have  to  move  into

the  small  wash  room  at  the  end  of

Barracks  # 9.

The  Tipton  crew's  enlisted  men

(Jasicko,  Holcombe,  Ralston,  Brady,

Deironimi,  and  myself)  were  still  to-

gether  and  we  all  felt  very  lucky  that

we  had  not  been  split-up  as we  had

been  through  a lot  together  in  the

past  nine  months.  We  had  no  idea

where  our  officers  were,  but  we  were

praying  they  were  alright.  When  the

guards  opened  the  gate  and  led  us

into  Lager  A,  a large  crowd  of  prison-

ers started  milling  around  us and

theywere  all  asking  a lot  of  questions

about  the  war,  where  the  front  liner

were,  etc.,  and  where  we  were  from?

That  was  the  first  time  that  I found

out  that  I did  not  know  hardly  any-



thing  about  the  ground  war  and  re-

alized  that  I  had  probably  been

avoiding  thinking  about  the  war  and

was  just  living  from  mission  to  mis-

sion  and  not  worrying  about  any-

'hing  else.  A  few  days  later  I was  out

-here  greeting  the  new  POW's  just

like  everybody  else,  but  now  I had

leamed  a lot  more  about  the  prog-

ress  of  the  war  and  other  current

war  news  about  the  Eastern  and

Western  front  lines.

We  were  issued  two  blankets,

one  American  Gl  wool  blanket  and

one  German  blanket  that  was  very

coarse  and  made  from  horse  hair.  At

this  time  or  perhaps  a little  later

Deironimi  was  issued  a pair  of  black

English  shoes  with  hob-nail  soles  to

wear  in  place  of  his  heated  boots.

They  were  a lot  better  than  what  he

was  wearing,  but  not  as  good  as  our

Gl  shoes  because  when  you  were

standing  around  on  frozen  ground

which  we  did  a lot  of  later  on,  the

hob-nails  transferred  the  freezing

cold  right  through  the  shoe  soles  to

the  bottom  of  his  feet.  Some  of  the

prisoners  that  came  in  from  Dulug

Luft  11  had  been  issued  a capture

kitwith  extra  clothes  and  some  toilet

rticles,  but  those  of  us  arriving

xrom  Budapest  had  only  what  we

were  wearing  when  we  were  cap-

tured.

From  the  Vorlager  we  were  es-

corted  into  Lager  A  and  then  over  to

Barracks  # 9. We  entered  the  bar-

racks  through  the  double  doors  into

a wide  central  hallway  and  were  led

down  to  the  far  end  to  a small  wash

room  on  the  right  hand  side  of  the

barracks.  We  entered  through  a

single  doorinto  the  smallwash  room

with  four  double-deck  bunk  beds

jammed  inside  and  there  was  one

windowlooking  outside  on  the  oppo-

site  wall.

Each  lager  was  governed  some-

what  differently  and  since  the  ma-

jority  of  the  prisoners  in  this  com-

pound  had  just  recently  transferred

here  under  very  severe  conditions

from  Luft  Vl,  we  were  governed  by

the  rules  they  had  developed  and

operated  under  at  that  camp.  Our

T,ager  A  leader  was  named  Richard

.A. Chapman  from  Daytona  Beach,

FL.  and  he  had  been  trained  by  the

British  airmen  at  Luft  Vl.  Many  of

the  British  airmen  had  been  prison-

ers  of  the  Germans  for  three  or  four

years  and  had  learned  the  hard  way

how  to  best  benefit  from  the  rules

established  at  the  International

Convention  Relating  to the  Treat-

ment  of  Prisoners  of  War,  signed  at

Geneva,  July  27,  1929,  by  47  na-

tions.  The  U.S.  ratified  these  laws  in

1932  but  Japan  and  Russia  never

signed  this  agreement.  The  British

used  these  rules  to  usually  stop

obvious  abuses  when  they  were

dealing  with  the  older  regular  army

German  officers,  but  with  officers

with  ties  to  the  Nazi  party  nothing

seemed  to  work.

We  had  an  elected  "American

Man  of  Confidence",  Frances  Paules

from  Lansdale,  PA.,  over  all  of  the

lagers,  a camp  leader  for  each  lager

and  a leader  for  each  room.  He  had

signed  a pledge  thathewould  nottry

toescape,  sohewasallowedtotravel

between  lagers  when  problems

arose  Our  lager  had  an  all  volunteer

kitchen  force  that  prepared  and

cooked  all  of  our  food.  The  kitchen  in

our  lager  had  only  two  or  three  large

vats  and  no  other  utensils  in  which

to  cook  the  food,  so  everything  had

to  be  mixed  together  and  cooked  like

a stew  or  mush.

Shortly  after  you  become  a pris-

oneryou  begin  to  realize  that  proba-

bly  the  most  important  thing  inyour

life  becomes  when  and  if  you  are

going  to  get  your  next  meal.  When

you  read  stories  aboutyoung  service

men  running  around  in  foreign

lands.  they  always  write  that  all  they

are  interested  in  is  that  famous  four

letter  word  that  begins  with  an  "F".

Once  you  become  a prisoner  I can

tell  you  with  some  certainty  that  the

most  important  "F"  words  that  most

of  us  were  thinking  about  was  food,

family,  friends  and  freedom.  With

that  in  mind  I will  try  to  describe  our

typicalfirstdays  aswewere  tryingto

leam  to  survive  with  very  little  food,

lots  of  support  from  our  friends,

wor:ng  about  our  family,  and  our

complete  loss  of  freedom.  You  do  not

realize  how  important  freedom  is

until  you  find  yourself  in  a situation

where  all  the  decisions  are  made  for

you  by  a man  carrying  a gun  that  is

pointed  in  your  direction.

Early  in  the  morning  the  guards

removed  the  wooden  braces  that

locked  the  doors  at  each  end  of  our

barracks  and  someone  from  our

barracks  removed  the  outside  shut-

ters  that  had  been  installed  over  our

windows  the  night  before.  Whenyou

first  woke  up,  if  you  wanted  to  wash

up  you  had  to  take  a pan  outside  to

thewell  and  drawthewater  by  using

the  hand  pump.  Even  though  it  was

only  August  we  were  pretty  far

North,  so  the  water  was  already

pretty  cold  and  by  December  it  was

near  freezing.  There  was  no  break-

fast  as such.  but  the  kitchen  crew

every  morning  at  about  7:30  am.  did

prepare  either  hot  tea  (it did  not

taste  like  Lipton)  or  ertaz  coffee.

They  were  both  hard  to  get  used  to,

but  eventuallywe  decided  theywere

better  than  nothing.  Each  room  had

a metal  beverage  container  and  we

took  turns  standing  in  line  to  get  our

room's  ration  and  then  brought  it

back  and  ourroom  leader  made  sure

everyone  got  the  same  amount.

Most  days  we  were  each  issued

one-seventh  of  aloaf  of  a heavy  grain

black  bread  that  was  covered  with

saw-dust  and  sometimes  we  would

even  find  pieces  ofwood  inside.  It  did

not  taste  too  bad  and  it  was  some-

what  moist,  but  if  you  tried  to  save  it
too  long  and  it  dried  up,  it  got  a  lot  of

surface  cracks  and  looked  like  dried

clay.  The  Germans  brought  the  bare

loaves  into  camp  stacked  in  an  open

wagon  pulled  by  oxen  or  sometimes

by  cows.  Sometimes  they  also  is-

sued  us  awhite  margarine  to  spread

on  our  bread  and  I thought  it  was

one  of  the  better  tasting  things  they

gave  us  to  eat.  So  usually  I had  one

piece  of  bread  spread  with  some  of

the  margarine  and  either  the  coffee

or  tea  and  called  it  breakfast.  We

next  were  busy  trying  to become

familiar  with  the  camp  layout  and

determine  what  was  expected  of  us

and  how  best  to  adjust  to  this  very

restrictive  prison  life.  About  50  feet

from  the  barbed  wire  fence  was  a

warning  line,  a 2 x  4 board  that  was

raised  about  18  inches  above  the

ground,  that  extended  around  the

perimeter  of  the  lager.  Anyone  that

crossed  over  this  line  into  the  "no

man's  land"  area  would  be  shot  on

sight  by  the  guards  in  the  tower.

This  warning  line  around  the  lager
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became  the  outside  guide  line  for  a

common  exercise  path  for  all  of  us.

Also  later  on some  airmen  would

come  back  to  the  room  afterwalking

around  the  exercise  path  and  an-

nouncethattherewas  10,220barbs

onthe  top  rowof  barbedwire  around

the  perimeter  of  the  compound  and

usually  someone  else  would  tell  him

he  made  a mistake  and  quote  some

other  large  number  as  being  the

correct  count.  Also  if  you  sat  on  the

rear  steps  of  your  barracks  and

watched  the  passing  prisoners  often

times  you  were  re-united  with  other

friends  from  your  squadron  crews

that  had  gone  down  recently  and

sometimes  you  saw  airmen  thatyou

had  met  in  the  various  schools  dur-

ing  earlier  training.

stoodatattention.  OneoftheGerman

counters  was  an  older  Sergeant  who

had  lived  in  Chicago,  spoke  very  good

English,  was  somewhatfriendly,  wore

a Green  Army  uniform,  and  he  was

called  the  "Green  Hornet".  We  also

heard  that  one  of  his  sons  was  a

fighter  pflot.  Most  of the  time  the

countdidnotcomeoutright,  sowe  all

had  to  stand  there  until  it was

straightened  out  In  the  rain  and  dur-

ing  the  winter  this  caused  a lot  of

hardship  particularly  on  those  that

were  sick  from  colds  and  various  ail-

ments,  so  our  Camp  Leader  assigned

a couple  of  our  airmen  to  help  them

completethecount.  Eachroomleader

was  responsible  to  make  sure  every-

one  was  out  of  the  barraacks,  but

many  times  after  a couple  of  mis-

filled  with  food  that  had  been

prepared  in  the  large  vats.  The

best  tasting  food  we  received  for

lunch  was  a barley  cereal  similar

to  cooked  oatmeal.  Nearly  every-

one  agreed  that  the  barley  cerea'

was  by  far  the  best  food  we  re-

ceived.  After  the  war  when  I was

back  home  on a normal  diet  I

tried  some  and  it  was  terrible.

That  gives  you  an  idea  as  to  what

the  otherfoodtastedlike.  Usually

lunch  was  either  potato  soup,

cabbage  soup,  a  dehydrated

sauerkraut  soup,  or  a  dried

greens  soup.  On  a few  occasions

you  could  see  small  pieces  of

meat  in  the  soup.  They  brought

the  raw  meat  covered  with  a

green  mold  into  the  lager  in  open

wagons  pulled  by

oxen  or  cows.  The

sauerkraut  or  greens

soup  smelled  and

tasted  so  bad  that

even  though  we  were

nearly  starving  most

of  us  could  not  eat  it,

so we  had  to  sneak  it

over  to  our  32 hole

latrine  and  dump  it

down  into  the  pit.  i

know  it is  hard  to

believe,  but  the  soup

odor  drowned  out  the

prevailing  odors

which  was  no  easy

task.  Ourroomleader

dished  out  equal

amounts  of  food  from

the  bucket  into  our

dish  which  was  in

most  cases  a small  tin

can  and  we  ate  it  if  we

Lt$  W - Prisoners  from  Lager "A" in fomation  for  the twice a day head-count  required
by  the  German's  to assure  that  no  prisoner  had  escaped.

At  mid-morning  every  day,  re-

gardless  of  theweather,  we  all  had  to

fall  out  on  the  parade  ground  and

line  up  five  deep  by  barracks  to be

counted.  Der  Kommandant  along

with  our  Camp  Leader  stood  in  the

front  of  the  formation  with  armed

guards  lined  up  behind  our  forma-

tion,  while  we  were  counted  by  a

couple  of  German  NCO's.  Der  Kom-

mandant  was  a Lt.Colonel  and  he

was  old  by  our  standards  and  he

stood  stiffly  at  attention  in  his  sharp

black  leather  overcoat  with  his  right

hand  over  his  heart  Napoleon  style.

Some  referred  to  him  as  "Rigor

Mortis"  because  of  the  stiff  way  he

counts  a search  of  the  barracks  pro-

duced  a half  dressed,  sleep-eyed  air-

man  staggering  out  onto  the  parade

ground  much  to  the  dismay  of the

Kommandant  and  a lot  of  wet  and  cold

prisoners.  Sometimes  two  or  three

guys  were  missing  at  the  same  time

before  the  guards  rousted  them  out  of

different  rooms  in  the  barracks.  After

we  were  dismissed  from  this  formation

we  had  no  assignments,  so  some

played  cards,  others  read.  some  gath-

ered  for  class/lectures,  but  most just
loafed  around.

At  noon  someone  from  each  room

stood  in  line  at  the  kitchenwindow  and

received  a ten  quart  bucket  partially
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possibly  could.

We  fell  out  into  the  same  type

formation  in  mid-afternoon  to  be

counted  again  and  there  were

just  as many  foul-ups  in  the  af-

ternoon  count  as there  were  in

the  morning.  In  those  rooms  that
a deck  of  cardswas  available  they

played  hearts,  bridge,  or other

various  card  games  or  even

though  therewerevery  few  books

you  got  on the  waiting  list  and

read  whatever  book  that  becamr

available.  We  did  not  have  a dech

of  cards  in  our  room  at  this  time,

but  we  were  still  mostly  trying  to
learn  the  system  for  daily  sur-



vival.

We  stood  in  line  with  our  bucket

for  the  evening  food  thatwas  usually

mostly  boiled  potatoes  which  would

not  have  been  too  bad  except  they

dded  a large  turnip-  like  kind  of

stringy  vegetable  called  Kohlrabis.

The  strong  turnip  taste  dominated

the  potatoes,  ruined  the  flavor,  and

made  it  hard  to  get  down.  You  had  to

eatit  or  go  to  bed  hungry  everynight.

Jasicko  said  that  some  farmers  in

Montanaraised  Kohlrabis  as  foodfor

their  cattle,  so I was  feeling  a little

sory  for  the  Montana  cows.

Deironimi  recently  reminded  me

that  since  we  were  one  of  the  first

crews  to live  in a wash  room  we

received  the  same  amount  of  food  in

our  bucket  for  seven  people  that  a

room  of  sixteen  received  because  the

kitchen  crew  had  no  way  of  knowing

and  put  the  same  amount  of  food  in

each  bucket.  Our  food  luck  was  en-

joyed  only  for  a short  time  as our

camp  was  filling  up  fast  as more  an

more  neW  prlSOnerS  Were  aTarlVlng

each  week.  In  about  four  weeks  the

Germans  decided  the  wash  room

was  needed  forthewhole  barracks  to

iised,  so we were  moved  out.  We

ayed  in  Barracks  #9  but  the  rest  of

my  crew  members  were  put  in  one

room  and  I was  assigned  to  room  #8.

There  were  16  beds  and  I was  the

17th  in  the  room,  so  I had  to  sleep  on

the  floor.  Before  the  end  of  November

there  were  23  in  our  room,  so there

were  7 of  us  sleeping  on  the  floor.

At  dusk  someone  from  each

room  went  outside  and  installed  the

wooden  shutters  over  the  windows.

The  guards  closed  the  double  doors

at each  end  of  the  barracks  and

barred  them  by  placing  a  long

wooden  4x4  across  the  width  of  the

opening.  There  was  one  small  bulb

(about  25  watts)  in  the  center  of  the

room  that  provided  marginal  light-

ing  for  the  whole  room.  You  had

access  to all  the  rooms  in  your  bar-

racks,  but  you  soon  found  out  that

room  members  were  rather  close

knit,  so you  pretty  much  were  in-

volved  only  with  your  own  room.

After  lockup  some  nights  one  of

'ie  leaders  would  come  to  our  room

sd  giveus  the  latestnews  aboutthe

progress  ofthewar.  Laterwelearned

there  was  a hidden  radio  used  to

gather  these  reports  and  that  every-

day  it  had  to be  disassembled  and

the  parts  hidden  to keep  it from

being  discovered.  If anyone  was

caughtwith  any  of  the  radio  parts  or

they  learned  the  names  of those

involved  in  obtaining  the  messages,

they  would  have  been  executed.  At

10:00  o'clock  the  lightwent  out  and

after  that  there  was  total  darkness

since  the  wooden  shutters  over  the

windows  blocked  out  even  the

moonlight.  I cannot  really  do  a very

good  job  of explaining  the  long

nights,  but  sleep  did  not  come  easy

even  though  some  how  you  had

made  it  through  one  more  day.

We  had  been  at  Luft  IV  for  six

months  and  then  near  the  end  of

January,  1945,  after  lock-up,  our

leaders  told  us  that  since  the  Rus-

sian  army  was  only  a few  miles  east

of  us  thatwe  were  probably  going  to

be  leaving  our  camp  soon  on  a

forced  march.  They  also  said  that

the  1500  prisoners  in  the  poorest

healthwere  going  to  be  moved  out  of

our  camp  by  train.  They  asked  us  to

submit  names  of  those  we  thought

were  in  the  worst  physical  shape

and  could  not  stand  the  march.

Those  prisoners  that  were  in the

hospital  were  to  stay  here  for  now.

Each  room  submitted  names  and

the  1500  were  picked  from  this  list.

Brady,  our  nose  gunner,  had  a bad

knee  and  other  swollen  joint  prob-

lems  and  he  was  selected  as one  of

those  to  leave  by  boxcar.  Atrain  ride

locked  in  boxcars  traveling  across

Germanywas  no  picnic  as  therewas

always  the  threat  of  being  bombed

or  strafed  by  our  own  air  force.

About  50  prisoners  were  put  in

each  boxcar  and  transported  this

way  for  several  days  with  very  little

food  and  water  across  norlhern

Germany  to  Stalag  Luft  I at  Barth.

Another  1500  prisoners  from  Lager

B were  transported  under  similar

conditions  to  Stalag  )Gll  D in  Nurn-

burg  in  southem  Germany,  and

then  in  April  forced  to  march  about

80  miles  to  Moosburg.

On  February  6th  the  remaining

6500  of  us  left  on  a forced  march

that  lasted  for  86  days  and  we  cov-

ered  about  550  miles  on  foot  and

about  30  miles  in  a box  car.  It  was

the  coldest  winter  in  years  and  we

slept  in  barns  at  night  and  on  a few

occasions  had  to sleep  out  in  the

open  on  the  ground.  On  February

13th  the  Russian  army  was  only  a

short  distance  from  us,  so on  that

day  we  had  to  walk  for  23  miles  in

freezing  weather  and  then  spent  the

rest  of  the  night  in  a open  field.

We  walked  from  the  Eastern

Frontto  theWestern  frontand  as  the

British  troops  approached  we  then

headed  back  East  until  the  Russian

Army  approached  and  then  we

turned  West  again  and  were  finally

liberated  by  the  British  2ndArmy  on

May  2, 1945.  We  crossed  the  Elbe

mver  three  times  in  the  last  six

weeks  of  the  war.  We  were  flown  to

Camp  Lucky  Strike  in  France  and

most  of  us  were  transported  home

by  the  Navy  arriving  home  in  early

June,  1945.
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Montgomery  Reunion

Memories

There  have  been  many  letters

and  phone  conversations  about  the

reunion.  Everyone  seemed  to have

had  avery  memorable  time.  I did  not

mention  the  hotel  in  the  lost  news-

letter  since  the  condition  of  the  hotel

was  not  what  was  expected.  Plans

were  to have  it  remodeled  by  late

spring,  but  there  was  an  ownership

change  and  the  rooms  were  not  re-

modeled.

A  letter  from  Teddy  Levinson  to

0.  J. Cowart  describes  some  of  the

hotel's  past.

"We  flew  to  Hyannis,  Mass.  for  a

meeting  of  the  directors  of  the  Na-

tional  Propane  Gas  Association  of

which  Milt  represents  Delaware.  We

were  in  the  lobby  late  Sunday  after-

noon  and  talking  to  some  of our

friends  when  a couple  arrived  who

had  been  our  friends  for  years.  He

was  an ex-President  and  director

from  Alabama!  When  she  came  in

she  spied  us  first  and  made  a beeline

for  the  traditional  hugs.  I told  herwe

were  in  Montgomery  before  Hyan-

nis.  She  said,  Oh,  I remember  you

told  me  you  would  be  there.  Where

did  you  stay?  With  that  a look  of

sheer  horror  covered  her  face  and

she  almost  screamed.  When  I told

her  the  Governor's  House  Hotel  she

said,  'Oh,  you  should  have  called  us

about  its  condition.  With  that  her

husband  came  over  from  the  desk

andsaid,  'What'sthisaboutbeingin

Montgomery?  Why  and  where  did

you  stay?  Janet  told  him  before  I

could  and  he  too  looked  very  upset

and  said,  'did  you  know  this  is the

capitol  of  Alabama  and  when  the

legislature  was  in  session  that  ho-

tels  is  where  the  ladies  of  the  night

stayed!  We  were  overcome,  then

started  to  laugh  and  said  wait  until

we tell  our  reunion  friends  about

this!  Isn't  that  absolutely  wild?  So,

we  suggest  that  has  to  be  a question

to  be  asked  of  the  hotels  considered

for  Dayton!  Fun  to  games!

0.  J. Cowart  said  he overheard  a

question  posed  to  the  hotel  clerk,

"Do  you  charge  extra  for  roaches

in  the  room?"

During  our  tour  of  Maxwell  we

had  a talk  byMrs.  Gamma  from  the

Historical  Research  Agency.  After

the  meeting  Bernie  Badler  talked

to  herregardingAl  Rodman's  diary.

Since  the  reunion  Bernie  sent  the

diary  to her  and  following  is the

letter  he  received.

Hg  AFHRA/CCP
600  Chenault  Circle

Maxwell  AFB  AL  36112-6424

Maj  Bernard  Badler,  USAF  ret

18449  Crest  Ave

Castro  Valley,  CA  94546

Dear  Maj  Badler

Thankyou  somuchforyourlet-

ter  and  AI  Rodman's  diary.  It  is a

gemindeed.  Iwilltrytogetitmicro-

filmed  and  back  to  you  as soon  as

possible.  I will  drop  Mr  Rodman  a

note  of  thanks  as  well.  I have  used

your  story  of  never  knowing  your

roomie  kept  a diary  in  a couple  of

my  speeches.  Now  I can  prove  to

people  that  it  really  did  happen!

Again,  thanks  so  much  foryour

interest  in  the  preservation  of  the

history  of  the  United  States  Air

Force.  We depend  on people  like

you  to  find  those  treasures!

Sincerely

/s/  Lynn  0.
Gamma

Archivist  of

the  Air  Force

Those  of  you

who  have  dia-

ries,  or  stories

may  want  to

consider

sending  a

copy  to  the  Ar-

chives.  The

name  and  ad-

dress  is

above.  Others

may  consider

writing  your

wartime  ex-

periences  for

your  families

and  send  cop-

ies to the  Ar-

chives.

McCook  Army  Air  Base

Plaque

All  squadrons  have  sent  in  their

share  of  the  cost  of  the  plaque.  Itwas

dedicated  September  28,1996.  A

"thank  you"  to Walt  Longacre  fe

taking  on this  project  to keep  our

squadrons  and  group  remembered.

The  missing  465th  Bomb  Group  is

now  represented  along  with  all  other

groups  who  trained  at  McCook.

Wright-Patterson  Plaque

In  a  recent  conversation  with

Roland  Soucyhe  reported  the  memo-

rial  Garden  where  our  plaque  and

tree for the781st/465th  is located
hasbeenallplantedwithtrees.  Ithas

been  closed  for  some  time  to any

further  memorial  trees  and  plaques.

We  were  fortunate  to have  located

there  when  we did.  Roland  reports

the  tree  and  plaque  are  in  excellent

condition.  If  you  attend  the  Dayton

reunion  in  '98  you  will  be  able  to  see

it  again!

What  was  it  like  at  home

during  WWII  ?
The  questionwas  asked  byMaryAnn

Wootan.  Previously  someone  els

asked  the  same  question.  What  wab

it  like  - food  and  gas  rationed,  lonely,

etc.  How  about  it,  some  of  you  gals

should  have  some  memories  of  those

times.  Let  us  hear  from  you.

FrankAmbrose  titled  this  photo,'l  think  you  should  give  m-

another  room - I've only tried  4 rooms  so far."  Morris  Cohe,.
is ta(king  to the room clerk  about  getting  a satisfactory  room.
He  u,ias  joined  by  others  trging  to  get  ari  upgrade.
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MAIL  CALL

Theron  "Robbie"  Robinson

notes,  "I  finally  found  time  to  send  in

my  dues,  late  due  to  a broken  foot.  It

-really  slows  you  up  without  any

yheels."

Robert  Leasure  (Group  Opera-

tions)  to  O.  J.  Cowart,  "Ijustreceived

my  issue  of  Pantanel(a  News  and

note  my  contribution  is  due.  In-

closed  is my  payment.  Althoff  does

an  outstanding  job  on  the  newslet-

ter.  Iread  each  one  page  by  page  and

have  saved  each  one  in  binders.  It

was  good  to  hear  thatJim  has  recov-

ered  and  is  back  to  normal.

'Iwentoverseasin  aLibertyShip

and  celebrated  my  21st  birthday  as

we  passed  the  Rock  of  Gibraltar.  I

worked  in  Group  Operations  for  the

late  Dan  Dugan,  the  Group  Bombar-

dier,  and  I remember  Ken  Sutton

coming  in  to  the  office  regularly.

'The  meeting  of  the  780th,

781st,  782nd  and  group  personnel

inDaytonin  1998soundslikeagood

idea.  It  is  close  enough  that  I might

be  able  to  get  there,  'God  willing  and

the  creek  doesn't  rise.'

"The  pictures  of  the  reunion  this

J  ear were  outstanding.
"Keep  up  the  good  work."

Help  Thy  Neighbor

STATE  OF  NORTH  CAROLINA

OFFICE  OF  THE  GOVERNOR

RALEIGH  27603

JAMES  B. HUNT  JR.

GOVERNOR

Mr.  William  Coonan

Colonial  Place

Ashville,  NC  28804

Dear  Bill:

It  is indeed  my  privilege  to

congratulate  you  on  your  selection

as a recipient  of  the  1995  Governor's

Award  for  Outstanding  Volunteer

Service.  This  award  represents  the

pride  and  appreciation  of  your  com-

"nunity  and  state  foryour  exemplary

Fforts  to  make  life  better  for  others.

I will  host  the  Western  Re-

gional  Reception  and  Ceremony  on

Tuesday,  August  15,  1995,  on  the

Campus  of Shelby  High  School,  in

Shelby,  North  Carolina.  The  reception

will  begin  at  5:00  p.m.  in  the  gymna-

sium,  followed  by  the  Awards  Cere-

mony.

As  a  recipient  of  the  1995

Governor's  Award  for  Outstanding  Vol-

unteer  Service  you  will  receive  an  offi-

cial  invitation  within  the  next  few  days,

so be  prepared  to  attend.

I look  forward  to  greeting  you  on

August  15.

My  warmest  personal  regards.

Sincerely,

/s/  James  B. Hunt  Jr.

I understand  Bill  has  been  a volunteer

for  many  gears  and  helping  out  particu-
laril'g  in  the  homeless  area.  Congratula-

tfons  Bill!

15  AAF  Casualties:
20,750  for  Year

MAAF  Hg,  Mar.  28,  1945-  Lt  Gen

Ira  C. Eaker  disclosed  today  that  "dur-

ing  the  past  year"  the  15th  AAF  had

"lost  more  than  20,570  men  and  2,057

heavy  bombers."Thisamountedto  100

percent  of  the  unit's  combat  strength,

the  MAAF  commander  said.

This  iricmdes  K[A,  wounded  and  POWs
- meri  not  retumed  to dutg.

Did  you  know?

The  15th  Air  Force's  largest  opera-

tion  was  on  April  15,  1945  when  a total

of 1,235  B-24  Liberators  took  off  to

bomb  the  Bologna  area?  'n'ie  465th

Bomb  Group  did  its  part  by  flying  57  B-

24s.  Red  Force  was  assigned  Bologna

and  Blue  Force  was  assigned  Casarsa.

It  was  our  greatest  effort  of  the  war.

Crews  going  to Bologna  area  were:

Capts.  Hudson  and  Crutcher,  and  Lts.

Wilcox,  Zalk,  Freeman,  Mullan,  Hewitt

and  Joyner.  Crews  bombing  the  bridge

were:  Capt.  McDaniel  and  Lts.  Maccani,

Billger,  Kennedy,  Benson,  and  French.

Sick  Call
Mike  Deronimis  suffered  a

stroke  and  was  unable  to  attend

the  reunion.  A note  from  Ida

indicates  he  is  coming  along

slow.  He  has  use  of  his  left  arm

and  a little  improvent  in  his  left

leg. Weal5oinIdainaprayerfor
Mike's  complete  recovery.

DUES

A  dues  reminder  - It's  1997  and

you  are  not  current  if  your  labe

doesnothavea97orLIFEto  the

right  of  your  name.  We  have  the

best  percentage  record  of  dues

current  since  we  were  formed.

large  part  of  this  is due  to the

LIFE  MEMBERS  - they  are  al-

ways  current.

Abook  calledAmerican  Heri-

tage  is  a picture  history  of  WWII.

It has  various  pictures  of all

phases  of  the  war.

One  photo  shows  POWs

carry  huge  stones  up  a hill  with

the  following  caption:

"A  flier  who  parachuted

safely  onto  German  soil  was  still

not  certain  of  surviving,  for  civil-

ians  were  encouraged  to lynch

downed  airmen,  and  prisoners  of

war  were  executed  on  flimsy

pretexts.  The  Nazis  recorded

their  sadistic  murder  of  Ameri-

can,  Dutch,  and  British  airmen

at  Mauthausen  concentration

camp  in  Austria  in  September,

1944.  They  were  forced  to carry

60-pound  rocks,  barefoot,  up  a

steep  quarry  slope.  When  they

collapsed,  they  were  stoned  and

beaten.  Bythenextmorning,the

last  man  was  dead.

EDITORS  CORNER
Our  96  reunion  memories  are

stillfreshinourthoughts,  butKen

Sutton  is  not  wasting  any  time  to

begin  plans  for  '98  in  Dayton.  He

has  received  many  hotel  offers

when  the  word  got  out  we  were

planning  to  head  that  way.

For  those  of  you  who  want

some  reunion  activity  in  betveen
there  is the  Las  Vegas  15th  Air

Force  reunion  along  with  the  50th

Anniversary  of  the  Air  Force  Asso-

ciation.  Details  were  in  the  last

newsletter.  A  number  have  regis-

tered  already.  Ifyou  are  thinking  o

going  you  should  plan  early  as  the

prices  go  up  in  February  and

March.

I am  finishing  this  newsletter

on  December  24th  so I am  in  the

spirit  of  wishing  you  Happy  Holi-

days  and  a Healthy  New  Year!
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J. Peter  Ministrelli  (Ordnance)  has  just  returned  from  a

tour  of  Italy.  In  a note  to  me  with  his  card  he  wrote,
"Sorry  I missed  the  reunion,  butI  read  all  about  it  in  the

news.  I was  in  Europe  the  month  of  September  and  was

able  to  visit  the  old  air  base  and  the  city.  I saw  sheep

grazing  and  it's  shepherd  sleeping  under  a tree.  What  a

change  in  scenery.  I took  some  picturesyou  mightenjoy.

Good  health  and  Best  Wishes  for  the  Holidays."

The  photo  on  the  left  will  bring  back  memories  of  those

narrow  streets.  And  the  one  on  the  rightwill  give  you  an

idea  of  where  Peter  is.

While  in  Rome  Peter  had  an  audience  with  the  Pope.
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